

The Filson Historical Society

Mss.

A Moxley - Offutt Family.
M937 Papers. 1818-1978. 1 cu.ft.

2

Personal Correspondence,
1860-1862.

95x10

Poolesville Md. March 25th 1860.

Dear Sallie.

I congratulate myself on having had the honor of receiving a letter from My Dear Sallie. and I can assure you that it is with inexpressible pleasure that I now have, in acknowledging the receipt of such a favor. You say we are widely separated, but

I can say our affection are enlisted, and may be considered inseparable. - We owe a great debt to him who first introduced the art of writing. were we not afforded this method of conveying our thoughts as they suggest themselves. what would be the state of our feelings, gloomy and depressed. So, I hope you'll take advantage often of the numerous opportunities which you probably will be blessed with, in writing to me, and be assured that I am determined to avail myself of every opportunity in writing to my beloved Sallie. - I hope you will answer one question, in your next letter, it is this does your kind Pa, and Ma know that we are engaged, and that we correspond. had I not been compelled to have left Ky at such an early period, I would have made them acquainted

- with the fact. which was a respect that
was due your Parents, from me. I sincerely
hope that they will not object to our mar-
riage, if I have my health. I will be ~~with~~ you
the comming fall, if your ^{Parents} would desire it.
I will get a recommendation from ^{many} worthy
Gentlemen here, but I think a ^{man's} manners is
sufficient recommendation to him. My
business is honorable one, and I will be
able to make a Lady comfortable, when
I get all my property in my possession,
if Father had lived, I would have settled in
Ky, but in regard to my settling in Ky at
present, Chances are very unfavorable, as
I cannot get in possession means sufficient
to buy land ^{by} three thousand dollars will be
all that I can get at now, the greater portion
of my property is in land and negroes.
The estate is worth from seventy five to eighty
thousand dollars, at the lowest calculation, and
it is not to be divided until the minor chi-
ldren become of age. I mean the ~~real estate~~
land and stocks. the personal property
will be divided shortly. the proceeds of the
perishable property and money and negroes
which ^{are} ~~in number~~ to be divided, My Dear Father

that
rely
- am
e you
le it.
this
is my
the
shin
in.
d in
Ky at
. as
ficient
e be
ortion
res.

ightly
as d
or chi
stat
pply
of the
negroe
other

expressed a great desire, ^{in his last hours} to have his will changed, so as to give me money to purchase land in the west, but there existed so much trouble in the house, that it was neglected. he was very willing for me to marry and settle in Ky. I wish you could have seen him. I know you could not help loving him.

I suppose the five children, each of us will be worth sixteen thousand or 17 thousand dollars, which is reasonably a good start for a young man. the negro property is worth \$38000. and the farm would sell for \$25000. and stocks and farming utensils will be worth \$12000. besides the money at interest \$9000. at least that is the valuation that the Gentlemen put upon it who were appointed to put a fair estimation on the property. but if we had millions of dollars it might not in every instance bring happiness. I merely wished to state to you my darling, that I am able to support you. I have not given you this information for the purpose of boasting at all, for had I millions, I never would boast of it. I would be as plain as I am now.

You are aware sometimes that Young ladies

who engage themselves to young men
from a distance. often repent of it in the
future, young men who are merely seeking
the young ladies money. not her affections.
but permit to say that I am not one of that stamp
the thought of your possessions never entered
my mind, ~~unless~~ I have known you. if you
were not worth anything. the same affe-
ction which now exists, would have existed
under the same circumstances.

Well I expect you are tired of this, and ~~wish~~
I will conclude, by thanking you
for the kind wishes you have made in
my behalf. and hope that God will bless
you, and direct you in all your trials upon
earth, and trust that He will strengthen
with his almighty power. please give my
love to all who may inquire. and be assured that
I am forever yours devoted. Good bye from
William White.



Poolesville Oct. 28th 1861.

Dear Sallie,

I know from the way you write, that you are not too well pleased about my past 2 months silence, well it has been rather a strange course of conduct, but if I were try to tell you in one day how our Protectors from the north. have treated me, you would ^{not} hear half of these depredations, I will not attempt to tell in this letter, but hope to see you some of these days when I may be allowed to talk about some other themes of more importance, Your humble svt. has been a prisoner, what do you think of that, I thought I would escape arrest, but unfortunately to my having two homes, I was arrested on my road from my farm to my Mother's in Poolesville, I don't know what I was arrested for, unless it was because they were so badly defeated at my Brother's Ferry, Conrads Ferry, or Ballis Bluff, which I presume you have heard off, I was marched seven miles from home, fortunately I was on horse back and had not to walk. You don't

know how your William felt, but
I was a very saucy prisoner, they
did not make much. the General
released me without asking me but
one question. I think the Lieutenant
must who accomplished such a cour-
ageous feat, lost his Commission
for over doing his duty, the White
Family have all been arrested now.

I have been very sick since
I last wrote, I was a little frightened
then, I thought I would never see Lalla,
but Lalla has been joking with me-
all this time, she does not care for me,
you talk about your dreams, you
feel like I expect that you would
like to have them come true, now what
would I feel like, to be flirted with,
you must not do so, I have thought
of one method of trying your love when
I see you, and if you fail to do what
I shall request you, I will consider it
all false, I have never distrusted
you until very recently, when I see
that you are disposed to complain
of my silence, without first finding
out the cause, but enough of that,
don't find any fault until I can see you.

Then we can have a big quarrel if
you are so inclined, I hear from
you, from sources that you know
nothing off, how you are carrying
on with the young gents, but never no harm
only a little innocent flirtation.

do not look often for letters from
me, for reasons I will not assign
but will some day when I see you, if I
am ever allowed that pleasure, you must
give my love to inquiring friends, like
wise to those who care for me, and be-
lieve me to be untrue to you as the need
be to the pole, I am sorry that I
said anything about my little fun
with the ladies here, you talk as
though you believed that I was going
to marry that miss Mary, I can't
help laughing at the idea, I must
stop excuse fruiness, good bye,

Willie

P.S. I will be perhaps out in
By in a month's time if I am allo-
wed to travel, you would not have
anything to with me now, I am a very
honest man, as the girls say, keep a sha-
rp lookout, maybe you will hear of the ugliest man in america
being arrested which will be me, oftaint every time

I look in the glass tree
from W.

The Filson Historical Society

13 MAY [c 1861]

at other day
he said that
he asked
I must give
it when I
looking for
it on the
the
rent you
sometimes
use me
it may
were well
repeating
evening
ight - it will
write soon
friends.
ly
aggie

Cabaret House May 19th

Dear. Henrie

Your last-favor of the 14th
came safely to hand, though so short - it
was nevertheless, sweet, & gaily received.
Wish you would often write us the
news of old Shelly. Mary is speaking of
^{going} ~~to~~ Shelly in the course of a week or
so. She will bring Jennie & Annie with
her. I am going with Little Frenches. if Mr.
Peek don't come. Little is complaining a good
deal with his stomach. I was up at Mrs. Ross
on last Thursday, funnel all small. I went
up to have my bonnet fixed. I ordered
it lined in black & white, straw & leather
seem to be all the go. Tell Anne she must
not think of any other kind but a straw
black seems to be the prevailing color on
linings. Jennie Hamilton had on a bonnet

trined in a black ribbon with a little white in the
edge, with yellow & black lace bunnings the last
ones I suppose was a spring bonnet, all the ones that
bonnets set up be much in front, I will have to
be lost in mine. Did Mama put on
black, if she did she can get a pretty
cape brouge for 25-38^s to get in Leopold & Clark.
I am going up again on next Saturday for
my bonnet I will stay several days. ~~I~~
I have a dress that would suit Mama if
she is not wearing black, and to know if they
give one perfectly quiet, the only reason I
wanted Mama to have it was, because
it was made, if she would give me a
common lawn for it, I had a piece like
it, God made not say anything about it
to any one but Mama. I should like to rip it apart
this morning & quite thinking, of what I have
suggested. I will wait to hear from you till
the last of this week we will go to Leopold
Saturday morning, I will attend to any
business you may have for me to do, if
you think I would not get the letter

a letter while in time just wrote to George in Dassel to
borrow all the meat, all the flour, I will
put on a pretty
a gel in Leavenworth
definitely for
all days. ~~I~~
I drama if
cousin Mary
remain &
res, because
have one or
a piece like
y about it.
to rip it apart
but I have
hung up like
to George in
do any
a little, if
the letter is

in time just wrote to George in Dassel to
the care of C. P. Ross, Cousin Sallie gave
me that receipt for you, which I enclose
you can get some of the things at the drug
store, make it & put it in a stone jug &
bury it in the cellar, do keep it sweet-
& cool, she says if you cannot get hare
liver use venison made last fall, but don't
it, it comes highly recommended says
it will not hurt you if it does no good
I hope you are well, so nice here no rain
for it.

Miss Mrs. Calais & Mrs. Bradham daughters
& niece spent yesterday with us.

I am looking for Sallie Thompson & husband
to spend the night with us. I have 70
chickens & still hatching, some large
enough to eat, our garden looks tolerably
well, it is so dry, that things do not
seem to grow, I have had nothing but lettuce
& onions to eat as yet. I suppose Anna has
been eating peaches & beans.

I friend ~~saw~~ ~~of~~ pieces of carpeting the other day
in L. there was but 3 nice pieces that
would about cover 3 chairs & he asked
1.60 for the 3, ask Mother if I must give
that much, I will try again when I
go to town, Cousin Leslie is looking for
her Mother, she is going down on the
river to meet her, if you make the
batters, of the receipt she sent you
take a wine glass full ~~three times~~
a day on an empty stomach use no
milk while taking it, I hope it may
do you good. Mary & family were well
on Sabbath last, Mr. Peak is reaping
corn, has about finished this evening
we had a little shower last night - it still
looks as though it would rain, write soon
I come to Pa & see all my young friends.

Yours. Sincerely
Maggie

my mind. I will stop
as it is nearly 12 o'clock
Please do not let any one
see this miserable & hurried
written note, destroy it, &
please erase that disconnected
verse I wrote in your album,
please do, hoping to hear
from your darling self at an
early period. I bid you adieu

Your loving Willie

P.S. Give my love to
all who inquire, in par-
ticular your kind Parents
I will hear on to morrow
noon train. As above

Willie

95 x 10

Louisville Mar. 3rd
61

Dearest.

You will see that,
from this note, Mr. White
has arrived safely thus far.
I have been to several of the
hotels in this City, and can
only be accommodated
here at the W. S. Whetzel
house. City hotel are com-
pletely crammed with Uncle
Sam's soldiers, & to tell the truth
in the midst of so many
enemies I could not endure.
Please do not despair, I am

growing stronger in the
faith, since I heard the all reflect sorrow upon my low
lost underground railroad
news, that the Burnside
Expedition had received
such a smart blow, Siege
had been repelled by Price,
& had sustained the heavy
loss of 2500 prisoners, is
not that an encouraging to
desponding rebels, "Be of
good cheer" there are better
times approaching.

I will not weary your
patience with war news,
I merely wish to encourage
you to hope on, ^{accompained} part they
earnest wish that the result
of your hopes will be good,

Must I now mention
what ^{red}taken place today
that one occurrence which

war, so long as life remains,
will reflect sorrow upon my low
worn heart, how awful it
is so far from the one
~~heart~~ than ^{heart} it is after, but alas
it has past. Although we
have the second time
parted, there exist with
your Willie that blazing
spark of love & that same
bright Ray of hope, which
has influenced him to
return here to see only you,

I need not tell you my
feelings, when I saw the
last glimpse of your sweet
face, which was illuminated
by everything that was lovely
& good. No No, You know
too well, it makes me sad, I
have tried to become interested
at the Theatre to night, but the
would take your place in

Skullyville

Dec 4th 1861,

Dear Gellie

Please accept

this bribe, with the
best wishes of William
White. I excuse that
rude note, of yesterday
morning, I feel perfe-
ctly satisfied that you
did not mean to wound
the feelings of your
dear & truly loving.

William,

P.S. excuse this hasty
scrawl also. I am have
always to be suspicious
when in company with
Cousin Gellie, or Mr.

95x6

Dec 25th 1861. I, Julian Hale do
affirm and declare that I am from this day
forward no longer a friend or friend of Miss Hale

John C. Brown

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

620

01 X 58

The weather still continues
to be cloudy & rainy, so
much so, as to prevent much
visiting. Since I left here,
for Ky. there have been all
sorts of outrages committed,
by the Lawless Yankee soldiers,
such as breaking into houses
& plundering, some two thousand
of them redped their due rewards,
a load of lead, which
caused instant-death. only
a few days before I go home
there ^{are} two men of Takallins ^{had}
valley attacked the house of Mr.
Carson by firing in at the windows
under which there were playing
some little children, & threatened
to kill every member of the family
by, one of them succeeded in hoist-
ing the window on the outside
and climbing half way in the
house, but it was his last. Mr.
Carson had stationed ^{himself} on the in-
dole of the ~~room~~ ^{from} with his gun,
& aimed deliberately at his head
the contact of the gun passing through
his head, killing the soldier instantly. Mr. Carson

Pooleville Mar, 13rd 1862

Dear Sallie

Last night, who do
you suppose I got a nice let-
ter from? it was a sweet
letter from the dear one, who
now I address, don't you think
I am improving in regard to
being punctual? I would
like to & will try to continue so,
but am afraid to promise
you, that I will write as often
as I now do, for I will often a few
months be very much enga-
ged at the farm, if I don't
so often, you must ^{feel} assured
that it will not be owing to
my neglect, I wrote a few
days since to you, & the letter

presume you have ere this
time received.

My friends were all very
glad to welcome me home
again a great many of them
thought I was about to take up
my abode in Fly, while others
expected to see me return
home with "Mrs White" they
now think I do not wish to
marry as I do not visit or pay
any marked attention to the
gentler sex here. You can say
that they do not ^{know} ~~know~~ my mind on
the subject of Matrimony; can't
you, one of my lady acquaintances
last night payed me
a very nice compliment. She
said she had heard that I
had been engaged to a lady
in Fly, two years & she was
just coming to the conclusion
that I might be trusted, she

always had thought (prior to
my last trip to Fly) that I
was a notorious flirt, I told
her she never knew me to
be very seriously in love with
the Lady^{she referred to my} carrying on with, she then give
me "Hankins" as Taffie Branksay
for pretending as much as I
did. William yielded of course,
there was too much truth in what
she had to say for me.

I never told you, ^{you} that were
my very first love, but take
this occasion to inform you
that you are, and that I can
be relied upon.

The good wish of yours
in your letter, meets with my
highest approbation, in which
I heartily join you, viz. that
the time concurring, when we
will meet not to part,

Gen Hooker is now advancing on the side of Alexandria upon Manassas, so as intercept the communication between said place & Richmond and if he succeeds in accomplishing that stratagem, the Southern trains will be in a bad scrape, they will be surrounded by Banks, McClellan & Hooker, as you'll see by the map, they move in front and on the right & left wing of manassas,

Our people say the cause of Gen. Stone's arrest, was because of his being such a Gentleman & kind to the civilian, too lenient.

The army has left a disease in our Country that the Doctors neither arrest nor understand.

It comes nearer the plague than anything else, which followed the army in the Revolutionary war, it does

Poolesville March 11th 1862

Dearest,

It appears to me that it has been a month since I last saw you, and distance now deprives me of conversing with you orally, so I must resort to this means of conveying what I wish & have to say to you,

I had no difficulty in traveling I left Louisville on Tuesday at 12 M.C. on the U.S. mail boat Superior and arrived at Cincinnati 6 A.M. next morning. I found the trip on the boat much more pleasant than on the cars.

Wednesday at half past eight in the morning I left Cincinnati for Pittsburg on the cars and arrived there at half past 2 Thursday morning, and left there at 3 P.M. for Baltimore, on the Pa central railroad through

by Harrisburg and arrived
at Baltimore Thursday night.

so you see I lost no time on
my way home.

There have been a great many
changes wrought in this country
since I left for Ky. The whole
face of the country for five miles
way direction from Boonesville has
the appearance of a desert, dist-
rict of fencing & every man's
farm is public road or thorou-
ghfare, for the Yankee Army.

I am very happy to say that
we have been fortunate enough
~~to escape~~, we have lost very
little of our fencing, but we can
only be thankful to the rebels
for protecting our property, we
live so near the river, and there
being such large bluffs on
the Va side, which commands
our farm, they were afraid to

encamp on our land, for fear
the southerners might accidentally
or purpose throw a shell among them,

We are now getting rid of the
last of them, a forward movement,
is the order of the day, Gen. Banks
has succeeded in getting the
greater portion of his command
to Charlestown Va, & hope
soon to hear of him being
a prisoner of war, so Buckner
can be exchanged.

He crossed at Harper's Ferry
on a pontoon bridge, which
is said to be, by some of
our citizens, the most conven-
ient bridge ever constructed on
this continent, big water will
not sweep it away, it will rise
as the river rises, Gen. McClellan
will or is at this time advanc-
ing on Manassas over the
old rail track "Bull Run",

March 11, 1862

have left the neighborhood to seek homes among those who desire negro equality,

Sam'l Southeast died with that fatal disease, he sends his love to you & says if you see any one who wants an ugly man like himself, tell him that's me.

And your loving Willie says he would be glad if you will keep true to our promise, write often & long letters, You must give my love to your Father Mother & family, tell Miss Morris I would be glad to hear from her, Bill is very much pleased with his "incognito" appearance, & says she is pretty enough for him, I close as this gook byes, be true to your self that's all that matters.

A.S.K.10

not appear to be contagious
I first originated from the
impurities of the atmosphere,
occasional by the filth all
accumulated at the camps
no less than seven persons
have died in the limited
space of ten days, a very
few lived longer than nine
hours after being taken,

Dr Thrive predicted, that
this summer when the sun
shines hot, every man's house
will be a hospital,

There has been a great
many more marriages in
Ky than here, only two here
this past winter, and a
great deal more rain
here than in Ky, the roads
are impassable the fields
are the big roads here.
~~Scores~~ of negroes have

I wrote to Miss Annie a short time since, has she received my letter? tell her to write soon, Ma & Sam both will send their love to you, Tell Ben, the day he was hunting cows, I rode one, a fine cow, but a notorious wanderer & jumped her. You must give my love to our Mama & family. tell Sallie B., I have written twice to her, & I would like to hear from her every month, Sam says he will go with me next fall if he can. Remember me kindly to Miss Jenny & tell her the Baltimore & Ohio rail road will soon be open to her favorite Town, Lumburg and excuse this hasty

0540
I miss your
lithographs
every day.
I am bound
to you
my mother
misses you
as much as
I do.

Poole's Villa.
April 1st 1860

Sallie. Your letter of date March 31st, reached me on the 27th. I think you could not have received my last letter, when you wrote, as I certainly did acknowledge the receipt of your letter. I am very grateful to you for the wise admonition your letter contained, and will try to act as near to it as I can.

The dreadful disease that I spoke of in my last, is still ~~more~~ very prevalent here, & the doctors are ignorant of the treatment that is required. they say that they never saw nor

read in any medical work, anything about it, I do not think we can live here in the summer at all, it will be so bad.

I went down to see my sister who is attending Fairhill Seminary. She has improved very much indeed, and has grown to be as tall as "Miss Brown."

You say they call you a gosses widow, I was afraid that when I left you would be teased about me, as I were so constant while with you, but you know Lallie, I could not help it, had I obeyed my feelings I would have been with you all the time, as it was I did spend half of my time with you.

How do you like the war news now? don't you think the South will be victorious? I do, the news papers report give Banks the victory but the true report is he was whipped and that, badly, the prisoners of Lee Kison's force that Banks captured, it appears were sick at the hospitals in Winchester.

We had a heavy fall of snow Saturday which disappeared in one day, and now it quite muddy again. I have a great notion of visiting you soon, if the health of the neighborhood does not improve, I will go somewhere.

1 APRIL 1862

acres. the whole in cultivation
this year 345 acres, and our
wheat is looking beautiful, on
the river bottom it is 20 inches
high, and on the upland 15
inches. I believe Miss Henry
I have news of interest to com-
municate, so I will conclude
my chapter, by wishing you
happiness and a plenty of it.
Write soon, and excuse all
mistakes, bad writing &c. and
believe me to be your true friend
as ever.

Kelvin White

P. S. I am sorry that you
were so unfortunate as to be run
^{by fire} down ~~of~~ wings of out-buildings &
especially the barn house.

I understand that Dr Pratt is
passionately fond of a toddie, but
not whisky toddie, a Miss Kittie
Toddie, or else, I expect you are
acquainted to some extent where he
is visiting, against this thought it
be a trifl, it means respect. H. W.

50

I am truly glad to hear
that your Cousin Anna ~~Goff~~
has resolved to cast off the
robes of guilt, to seek true
happiness, which comes from
above. I hope you will not
think that I have fallen in
to desperation, I have a hope
yet of becoming a Christian.
true I have been a sinner
in every sense of the word, but
I now feel the dependence or
need of a Savior, and am
daily striving to act, so as
to enable me to say concien-
tiously my sins are deer-
asing, I thank you for
the comfort you offer in
your letter kindly, and
wish a thousand times
that I was capable of return-

ning consolation, and my
true thanks, but I ^{would} feel as
Shakspeare says (were I to all
empt to write upon such sad
and subjects) "An evil soul,

Producing holy wit,

Is like a rillian with a smiling chace,
A goodly apple rotten at the cores"
I feel as though I could say
a great deal, but with fear
that I could ^{not} say as a Christian
and I forbear, I don't mean that
for you to infer that I am
the vilest of creation, but I do
not think that ^{any} Christian
should be ostentatious, but
on the other hand humble
in the sight of God.

You speak of my visit
to thy, how sadly it terminated,
very true, may it never be
your fate ^{to have} to sustain such

a trial. But I feel that
"my loss, is my Dear Father's
gain" for he died with a
full assurance, of becoming
one of God's Chosen Servants
I am confident that if any
who dwelt here, get to Heaven
~~he has~~. I feel sometimes
like leaving her for thy, but
when I look at my beloved Ma
who has nurtured me from chi
ldhood up to the present, and
who has striven, her utmost, to
induce me to heed ^{her} wise ad
monition, reason and duty
 bids me stay with her in her
declining years. The farmers
are all busy (myself included) but
generally finishing planting, corn.
I have put out quite an
intensive crop. Oats 30 acres.
Wye 35 a. Corn 120 acres, wheat 60

I would like to be with you very much, to assist you in planting flowers, I hope I will not long see some of them, as I know you have a rare selection.

I have no news to communicate but bad news, so I will have to draw ^{this} hasty scrawl, you must excuse it, I am very much afraid I will not have brother Sammie with me long, he would have been in Dixie last week if he could have crossed the river, the many land boys are all going to Yorktown to join Magruder, my three Cousins the whites are all there, they have thus far distinguished themselves, but they said they when they went, they would distinguish themselves or extinguish

you and me, I will not mention names, I was in Opelousas, in the Deep Valley, and will be in New Orleans in about two weeks, I will call on you at the first opportunity, I have written ere this, had not been for the pressure of my business. and other events that have happened since I last wrote, which has kept me pretty constantly on the go & look out, last night I did not sleep a wink, I have volunteered to assist in preventing the slaves from absconding from my district, which requires me to perform the service of a soldier at night, it is not very pleasant, but we had better suffer a little exposure to effect the object of our labor, there have in the last week

[ca. 1862]
April

a great number of negroes escaping, and they don't go any farther than the District of Columbia to obtain their freedom, it has been found an impossibility to have the fugitive slave law enforced, yet this present Administration boasts of being the only one that has ever enforced the law, I think it the only one that has made out of the Constitution of United States, a "military necessity." We are all in great excitement, Union men as well as Secessionists, but we can do nothing, A Gentleman residing in Prince George Co, Md, had all his negroes, that were able to work, to go to Washington, and he found out that they were uncomfitable, harassed

to his plantation, and loaded three wagons with the young & old good for nothing ones running, took them to Washington and upset them opposite the President's house sent the ugliest old man in the number to Lincoln to inform him, there was a present for him, I think the more we have made in the neighborhood as a patrolling party, will be a check to the flatfooted scoundrels, we intend to shoot down every one who resists.

We had a wedding here a few days since and the bride was that Miss Matthe Trindle, who I had the bad fortune of being engaged to once, she is a very handsome bride.

april

8 I don't know of any news
of interest to communicate

so I will have to bring my
badly written epistles & a close

My Mother sends her
love to you. Sam would,
but he is absent. I let
him see your likeness, &
he wondered what such a
sweet looking young lady
could see in this homely
Brother to admire. as I am
telling a story, but he did
say you were prettier than
any girl about these parts.

You must give my best
love to your good Pa & Ma,
& tell Mattie Ben, & Miss
Henrie to write to me. I would
write to them first, but it does
uness the nature of a task to
open a correspondence with all
my loved friends in your
state. I will do what you requested me.
good bye, from your loving & sincere
Willie

5th

When you write again, tell
me when you think we had
better consummate our ^{engagement} ~~marriage~~
ardent wish, I know of nothing
at present ^{to prevent} ~~our~~ "visiting the state
of matrimony" this coming fall,
if the war is not ended, we will
board with Ma, & live here un
til property begins to get up
to its original & intrinsic value,
when I will dispose of it, &
move to Ky or wherever you
propose. Property has ~~very~~
depreciated very much here,
in value, & I deem it an
imprudent course for me to
forsake, to make a sale now.

If there was any safety in
my moving my slave property
to Ky now, I would do it at
present, for there is no secure

⁽⁸⁾ place here for them now.
Ma thinks that one of
the Officer's wives who was
boarding here with her, gave
the negro woman & daughter a
pass through to Massachusetts,
since then she would
not let any of them stay in
her house.

I suppose you have seen
an account of the engage-
ment between the dixie
Man of war "Merrimack" and
the Federal fleet at fortress
Monroe, it has proven a
decided victory for the
South. The Federal govern-
ment talk of blockading
the entrance of James river
by another stone fleet, the
Merrimack being much fas-
ter than any boats they have
& invulnerable, they are afraid

⁷
she will grapple them flat
and clear their blockade,

I say hurrah for the South,
don't you? there has been
a fight in New Mexico
recently, & the confederates
routed them, & captured the
yankies arms & stores.

When I hear good news
I will postponer, & now I will
send you an old paper, a paper
the once called the Bo. exchan-
ge, has been suppressed three
times & each time assumed
a different name, it goes
by the name, Maryland news
sheet now, but does not speak
out so boldly for the south as
it did, but always furnish-
es some interesting extracts
Copied from southern papers,
it is the most popular paper
here now.



The Filson Historical Society

to read it I found
it covered with
dust and dirt, and
the Hon. Howell Cobb, while he was
Secretary of the United States Treasury,
borrowed it from Mr. Booth, who received
it as a present from Mr. Cobb's Son. I
do not think you will notice any change
in my penmanship, although I have
such a fine pen, for I write a most
able hand, you may make out how to
read it.

I answered your last letter soon
after it was received, but whenever I have
leisure, I don't think I can be better
employed, than by writing to my sweet
heart Sallie. No name produces with
me one half the pleasure that the
one above does when I see it or hear
it mentioned. I feel very restless, I want
to see you so much, and how sad it

makes me feel, to think that it
will be six or eight months, before I can
see you, I wish it was six weeks, I never
will be happy in this wicked world until
we are united. You must not mind the
name of "Grass widow," or the little jokes,
I feel delighted when I am honored so
much by hearing your name mentioned
in connection with ~~mine~~^{mine}, when I was
with you, You thought that I was tease-
d, when our numerous acquaintances
would joke me, it was all put-on with
me, the reason I appeared to dislike
it, was because I was afraid it would
make you dislike me, and that you
had have been terrible on William,
My Darling, when I last saw you, you
said you would write every week, now
please do it, I will be very punctual,
I expect you will think I am getting
very "Confectionary," And if you could
only meet me now, you would be
assured of the fact, for I would be
strongly tempted to kiss your ruby lips

I can't find in my vocabulary words,
one that would begin to express
how dear, my Sallie is to me, I am
always thinking of you. My friends
annoy me, by talking & asking me
questions, or in breaking the sweet
tide of my thoughts, while your sweet
and self-command all of them. I will stop this
so much as I am afraid that so much
~~your~~ sweet talk will not please you, but ^{you} will
have to grant the privilege of being a little
~~living in my writing~~, sometimes. for you know
I speak & write what I feel & mean.

You wrote about you planting your
flowers, Oh! how much I like to help
you, I once upon a time assisted a
good friend, to plant her flowers &
also to keep the ill weeds down, from
growing up in the midst of the tender plan-
ts & choking them, now when I ^{am} walking by
the yard I am often reminded of what has
been written & I had by looking at those flowers,
it was Miss Fannie Poole, You remind
me of her, in your manners.

We don't get many Southern accounts
of the recent battles which have occurred,
But I have heard enough, to know that
the Federals were badly whipped at
Winchester Va, & Strasburg. Mr Bro-
dy of Frederick County Md, received
a letter from his son who was under
Jackson at the Battle, in which he
stated that the Confederate loss
did not exceed over four hundred
Killed wounded & prisoners, & the
Federal loss was estimated at fifteen
hundred, after the battle was over.
Jackson retired to Woodstock.

I believe this report, because I have
seen since, an extract from the
Richmond paper, & they correspond.
Ma & Sam join me in love to
you, & Sam says he will if
Providence is willing & weather permis-
sing) be out in Ky some of these days
which he hopes he will have good time
with the fair sex of Ky. Give my love
to all. Your Pa & Ma. family, tell Mattie
I have looked with a great deal of interest,
at the post office for that promised letter from her.

other
ra.
she
man
mississipi
Cousin
a month
ago
pianos
splended
in g die
there
d in
ately
at.
long
n them
always
n you
loved
de
. I
ing so
oggie
dry
& presume,
on to
after the
Southern

in the border states will all meet & help his hand to
get married
of course all in
perpetual sessions. and
I hope it will be soon
I am now
together with
my dear & beloved

Tudor Hall

Brother Daniels house

April 9th. 1862

Your last letter, I recd.

it, a day after I wrote my last, and this
will answer it, & you see I am following
the good example you set me, in being
prompt in answering your interesting
letters. I wish often will continue to
be as kind, for the only moments of
enjoyment I have, are when I have the
pleasure of perusing your sweet letters.

I am here on a visit, I came with the
intention of spending a day, and am
now confined in doors, owing to the unexpect-
ed rain, hail & snow storm, it begins
to look as winter was about to return again.
The fields & trees are thickly robed with
snow.

I have been rather unfortunate, on
last Saturday evening. My most valuable
servant was taken with that unknown & fatal
disease and died early on Sunday morning.
He was the blacksmith, whose Protho's
Sister absconded during my absence from

home, I will miss him very much, he told the man I had hired him to that he had a good master, and that would be willing to stay me so long as he lived. I suppose you all know the Emancipation Bill has passed both Senate, and the bill amended making a negro's evidence good against a white man, carried by a two-thirds vote, of that detestable abolition body. We are now in far worse situation than we were, as our negroes will not have to go to Pa. for their freedom, when they get it so much easier, in the district of Columbia.

Next November will suit me very well, I know think, if we are spared, and hope that time will suit my sweet Lillian to marry. I am so sorry we have put it off so long. We will both have to learn to practice economy, these hard times, but I cannot think the time will always be so. Your Willie will always be ready and willing to comfort and supply you with earthly necessities, that his hands can accomplish. That, I am confident you feel assured. I never said any thing about receiving a piece of poetry from you. I feel the compliment

much
into
that
long as
know
I think
it's
against
we are
we are
so
it is so
is
very well
and
at last
put it
learn
ee, but
ays we
and
with
maces
assumed.
among a
compliment

very sensibly. But do you mean so much,
as those lines contain. I think it very
nice & expressive indeed. But I can't
altogether think that one could be quite so
true & self sacrificing as it would make
one appear, for you to act it out, would be
more than any of my sex would dare ask.

I know that you are true to me, and I
place a higher appreciation upon your ~~sister~~
~~love~~, than any thing else that fortune
we are, have bestowed upon me, therefore I am
as contented as a single man can be, who
is engaged to be married. Do you like
such sentimental letters as the one I
wrote prior to this? or one communicating
ling news; I like to write my thoughts
about as my feelings prompt me, and that
letter speaks truly my feelings now
and ever. Oh how pleasant it is to love,
just as you wrote many months ago "I wonder
if my love is a common delusion".^{gray} Know it
is an extremely pleasant delusion.

How I do wish I could have some more
of those nice bogger rides with you. Here I
am where I do not take interest enough in any one
to propose a ride in bogger or horseback,
I hope for a better streak of luck.

Miss Thresa Meadow, my brother
Wife's sister, is here from Leesburg Va.
a very nice pretty & sweet Miss, she
got acquainted the most of the men
of the 13th, 18th & 21st regiments of Mississippi
Volunteers, but she never saw your Cousin
Ben Offutt nor never heard his name mentioned
and, she has some excellent pieces
written in her album, by the Mississippians
in fact it is pretty well filled, some splendid
original ones, she gives a glowing dis-
cription of the B. Bluff battle, & says there
were not but one regiment engaged in
the hottest of the fight, etc. Va, and only
2 at any time during the engagement.

Dear Sallie you must write often & long
letters to me, and I will answer them
at the earliest possible opportunity, always
I would be glad to hear weekly from you,
please give my love to all the loved
ones at Woodland, and friends
on Maryland when you see them, I
am truly sorry to hear of Ben being so
unfortunate as to lose his nice loggin
till him, how does Mat & & Dudley
B. come along, not engaged yet, I presume,
tell her if she has him right, to hold on to
him, as young men will very scarce after the
war is over, and more likely that the Southern

let the Yankees confiscate our property. - We have very promising crops of wheat, I never saw better, while we have that, we can live.

I have no news, that I can give as correct, for the news papers till so many stories. I have never received the paper you spoke of sending me, but I expect I have seen the same account of that battle,

I am afraid this will not interest you, but excuse it & I will do better next time I have time close at home & therefore don't know even the news of my own neighborhood. Give my love to your Po. Mo. and family, & other friends, accept this with my best love from Willie

John sends his
Dixie man letter
with his money
to the place of all
our trouble, Yours truly
John Dill

Poolesville

May 8th, 1860.

I am so pleased
that you remember your
promise and keep it so well.
Neither of us, will have cause
to complain, if we continue
on so punctual, & I shall
try to do my part.

If you were here now, you
would think we are all working
people, for every one seems
to be rushing ahead with
their work, as though each
one is trying to beat the other,
but the season is a very late
one, as far back as I can
remember, till this Spring we
^{95 x 10} have finished planting corn
by the 1st. of May and now
not more than one half the

farmers have commenced, for about 6 weeks we had scarcely any sun shine, raining all the time,

The young Yankees begin to ride about horse backs, as the last of the army have gone, we have not a soul dear nearer than Washington, and I don't care if they never make their appearance here again, we all feel free once more. our men es are still leaving: but there have escaped so many from here, their owners make but little stir about them, as they are aware, all efforts for their ever getting them again, has this year, proved to be in vain.

I suppose you are having a nice time, cultivating

flowers, I wish I could see you, I know there is nothing there to give you mind one moments uneasiness, every thing around you looking beautiful, and you have not so great a responsibility as I have, I expect soon to have the whole of Ma's farming and my own to attend to, You are now ~~now~~ ^{enjoying} in the happiest days, of ones life, when we have a father so indulgent as yours, & M'm was, but when we are dependant on our own exertions, then we realize what it costs to live, I have thus far, gotten along very well, I can not complain, how any of us are to meet the payment of this war tax, & I do not clearly see, I suppose we will have to rebel like the rest, and

Cedart Hall May 28th 1862.

Dear Sallie

I have just returned this afternoon from Leesburg. I spent a very pleasant day indeed; the place seemed to be deserted by the young men, & every store closed; the young ladies are in fine spirits, and delighted to see me, many gave me reliable accounts of Gen Banks' defeat, whipped in four engagements, with a loss of near 20,000 men. He can only muster 4000 out of 35000 which number he went into Va, with. He is now back into Md, retreating wth Jackson in hot pursuit of him. I hope Banks will be large d, I have heard of specie being very scarce in stores, but I am disposed to doubt it, for I passed myself, a thousand pieces in the street to day. I had been to the cemetery, to see the grave of the Mississippians, and found the coins as

I was leaving, I intended to keep it, & when I have an opportunity I am going to have engraved on it, where and the date it was found.

The ladies were very busy making articles of clothing for the army and all speak as though they have brave in the Mississippi regiments.

I will tell you now I got along in Washington, I was there 10 days, & could not get our negroes as the military refused to return them, the civil authorities can not do anything, about their hands Maryland waited upon the President in regard to the negroes here, and all the satisfaction she got from him was, "he did not know what to do," he would take the matter under consideration, we all sent him word that any honest man could easily decide what do, I suppose you have heard of the riot of Sunday and Monday in Baltimore, do not be supposed to hear of bad treating for Sisters on the plain, to fight for

dear liberty, we expect aid very soon
from Uncle Jeff.

do not be alarmed dear Gallin. I
will not commit murder, I can't blame
the ignorant slaves so much as I do
the white negroes from the north, they
have put them up to it, for the purpose
of robbing us, I will not write any
more now, but I could not help
telling you, some this time, as it so
incorrigible; I have not told you
half, thinks so much and good,

I had an awful dream last night.
I dreamed that I had been to see
you for the purpose of marrying, without
out giving you any notice, had emp-
loyed the preacher, and became thor-
oughly drenched by a heavy shower
of rain, which made me pull very badly
together with the said disappointment.
I hope it will not turn out so, don't you?
When I arrive in Ky., you must be certain
to be ready. I must stop as I say
last, give my love to all who inquire
good night, from your devoted

To you soon,

William

P.S.

My Brother Lumine
has been gone two weeks
is in Richmond. We
all received news from
Mr. Captain B. L. White
of the Battle at Williams
burg. He said it was
a glorious victory for
the confederate, and a
good deal more, but I
am afraid to write it.
good bye from your
loving William

Wiliams

Bolesville

Tuesday June 10th
1862.

Dear Sallie

What is the
matter Sallie? I have
not received but one
letter for a month, &
have written several to
you. Will Brown's letter
was answered the week
I received it, please tell
him I answered it.
do write soon to me
Sallie, for all the
pleasure ^{there is} when I pur
use your letters. I tried
very hard to enjoy mys
elf yesterday at the pick
nick on the Sugar loaf moun
tain, there were beautiful
ladies as well as entertaining

and any one looking
on would have said,
we were having a gay time
but it was all forced.

I was thinking of you all
day long, how much I
did long for you to
be there, to take a view

of the magnificent
scenery, all round the trip to Washington next
to lofty mountain, as
far as the eye can

see, I too have been of ready cash looking for
peasant on strawberries them, we buy them near
and certain, Spring of the to get them ~~in your~~ possess

Rens & pens. You must come —

give my love to all my

friends, tell Miss Newell to me a long and sweet

please to answer my letter very soon, and

I wrote to her more than excuse this, short and

a month ago, I mentioned badly written letter, while

need to my friend Billie I have the honor of subscribing

Gussaway the object of my name Your devoted will

next visit to Ky, and
asked him to accompany
me, he said he would,
Miss Henri must look
her prettiest,

I have not heard much
was news, what I have

I expect to take another
trip to Washington next
week, after another reso
man, we will spend all

the day in the country
peasant on strawberries them, we buy them near
and certain, Spring of the to get them ~~in your~~ possess

Rens & pens. You must come —

give my love to all my

friends, tell Miss Newell to me a long and sweet

please to answer my letter very soon, and

I wrote to her more than excuse this, short and

a month ago, I mentioned badly written letter, while

need to my friend Billie I have the honor of subscribing

Gussaway the object of my name Your devoted will

next visit to Ky, and

asked him to accompany

me, he said he would,

Miss Henri must look

her prettiest,

Half past 8 o'clock, Friday night
Commenced.
Sugar lands, Bachelors hall,

My Dear Sallie,

June 20th 1862.

I am here alone, without one smiling face to cheer me, so do not be surprised at having a gloomy sheet. To pursue, I have many trials, but will not occupy time and paper in enumerating them. You said in your brief note, that you did not like "Political letters," I did not infer from the tenor of your letter that you wished to censure me at all, but I do not think I wrote many of the above mentioned, I always felt relieved in a measure after confiding in my Sweet Sallie telling her of my ups & downs in this old ill-fated State, and giving her the good news of the C.S.A. in this department, "Lower Potomac". Thinking she was not truly informed in regard to the movements here, (there being nothing but the extract of aches published in our papers now) but I will never do so any more.

You also mentioned my being so patient when in Ky. in listening to your prattling tongue. Yes every sound from that number fell upon my ear like the sweetest music. I must add that I would be truly delighted if you would exercise a little more ^{attention} patience, by making your letters a little longer, you know that I have repeatedly set the example, always longer than yours, I have a good stock of patience left yet, equally as much as when you saw me.

I would give the world, if I possessed it, just to be with you a few short hours. I was rather still in Ky

last winter, but I think were we to meet now, I would either entertain you, or be a constant torment, for I would have my "put-in". War then with all its horrors was something new to me, therefore my imagination was continually ~~wandering upon~~^{wandering upon} some unpleasant occurrence way off yonder which the dark future has yet to reveal, that with other petty trials caused me to be quiet, now I am so hardened by witnessing the many unfortunate results of this unholy war that I hardly give it a serious thought, & if I do it would only have a tendency to ^{make me} meet trouble better than half way.

You must, when you write give me the news of Mulberry & your own precinct, & tell me how your Pa & Ma are getting along ~~by~~ love to them, tell Miss Hennie, I think she might write to her friend Mr. tell Will Brown & wrote to him, also to Cousin Sallie, and I would like very much to hear from them. Cousin Sallie promised faithfully to write often to me, and it now has been three months since I heard from her.

Harvest is nearly upon us, & we will be all short of labor in consequence of the absence of our negroes. I intend to work hard to get rid of hiring much, we have hired out so many of our negroes this year, that it makes my force slim, & have ~~only~~ only eleven hands on the farm.

I have enjoyed myself a good deal lately coni during I have been so closely confined at home, there have been many young ladies visitin the nigh

ood, which has made it unusually gay,
there are three beauties now, at my brother's
and that is little home to me, none of them
suit me so well as Gullie.

When you get up in Woodford with Cousin
Lam, give my respects to friends there, & be
sure to make good use of the buggy. I will
purchase one myself soon, if I can conveniently
spare the cash, I have been afraid to get
one while the army was here, as the soldiers
ruined most carriage. I have ^{had} my eye
upon one in Longtown for some weeks,
a \$225 one, as nice as I ever saw, & the
latest style. Mu says a single man soon
makes an old buggy out of a new one, espe-
cially a fast driver as I am. She drives me
to wait-till I marry, before I purchase.

I miss Brother Sammis very much, I
get melancholly every time I go to our home
in Poolerille, & on the farm I will have
to employ some one to stay with me for
company. how I do wish for the time to
arrive for me to turn my wandering steps
towards Ky. when I have the promise that
you will return with me, then I will be
as happy as an uncaged bird. "What would
this world be if we had no one to love?"
I fancy it would be like somewhat the
body of ambulance without wheels, move slowly, also
a great comparison that is not it?

My Aunt Gullie tell me when you write, how
we had best make our arrangements next November.
I look forward to that time, with a great deal of pleasure.
Billie Guessaway will accompany me, has a nice

Gentleman, any of your young friends will do well to win him, we will not be able to remain long in Ky., as there will be no one at my home during my absence, who I can trust any length of time. do consent to have the knot tied a day or two after I get there, so we can make some visits to your relatives. I must confess that I am a little impatient about the time, we have been engaged so long. & to look way off yonder four mon ths, seems to be a great deal longer than the past 2½ years. please write some thing nice about it. you will not fail I know if you will be a little patient. You must excuse this, as I have written hurriedly, & I write just as I would talk to you.

Do not "cough" while on the cars going up to Woodford, I insist, or you may meet the fate of that lady you wrote about. Then I would be like that am balance in a degree, perhaps til the war terminates, which bids fair to be of long duration.

Again I beg you to remember me ^{Kirkby} to friends who inquire, & love to your kind ^{La} ^{my name} Anna & family. I conclude by subscribing ^{as} your true faithful and loving

Willie —

To Miss J. Offutt,

Philbyville

Closed quarter of 10

Kentucky.

O.Clock.

Please write soon to me, for I do not know what a few short weeks days even hours will bring forth, I may be forced away from home to escape a draft. when the time arises when I am compelled to fight, I perhaps may have the privilege of choosing sides.

We have put off till too late a date, the time for the union of hearts & hands. - We have seen our happiest day, in this sinful world, but enough. My Dear Lizzie if do not get another letter soon from me, you must know where I'll be. Will you be true to me, if I may live to see the end of the war, I believe you will, I am not in necessity a

95 X 10
Carrying a tall
one by
itself
in
the
middle
of
the
week
is
a
great
convenience
if
you
have
no
light
to
read
by
and
you
have
no
one
else
to
help
you
with
it.

Dear Lizzie
To
you
I
will
say
all
my
affection
and
regards
to
your
mother
and
sister
and
brother

Pooleville

August 3rd 1862

Some weeks elapsed since I had the pleasure of perusing one of your sweet letters, but on last Saturday July 31st, my long & pleasant anticipations of receiving a reply to my last, was realized. I do not consider your cessation on your part an "offense" at all. I insist upon you to write often, because I am so fond of hearing from you, it gives me great pleasure to hear of your enjoying yourself & often wish I could

be with you, but that
wish I fear will prove one
of little avail, as the dar-
kest hour ~~is~~ this un-
natural war is fast
consuming upon us here.
The final blow is to be
made, I think very shortly,
and volunteers do not respond
well to the call of the Presi-
dent, so they resort to the
system of drafting. Conse-
quently this old state is
in a precarious condition,
she did not furnish her
quota before, and not
one volunteer has she
given since the last call
for the 300,000, a draft
is looked for here, &
if they do order it, how
or what will be the resu-
lt. My imagination cannot

picture anything horrible
enough to describe. I
firmly believe that in
such an event, that
Ind would give the
South the soldiers when
the government would
draft one. You may
judge for yourself when
Willie ^{will} be, when you hear
of the draft for Ind.
Influential secessionists
are being arrested all
over the state, and the
test oath fails, which
is that you will support
the government at the
risk of your life, if you
do not take the oath your
property is to be confiscated.
I believe that the confis-
cation bill was intended
solely for the border states.

at
and
Poolesville.

August, 13th 1863.

My Dear Gallie

When I last wrote to you, I wrote rather in a light tone about the draft in this State, but I find now that it is no longer for a joke, in some portions of the state they are enrolling the militia now and we are expecting it here every day. So very many men having left the state for the South will make it very hard upon those remaining, the quota being a large number, 9000.

And I am forced by those circumstances to desert a dear mother & sister & little Brothers, a sweet home to go forth in battle for the sunny South, and all this sacrifice I am to make, without little promise before me, but what can I do. I can not go into another state, Substitutes cannot

be had, some persons have offered
as high as four thousand dollars, that will
~~not~~ⁿ get one. It cannot stand this draft, & I
do not wish to go to a fort, nor to pledge
my life and property to support
such a government as this. It goes
very hard with me to leave, and would
not if ~~it~~ ^{it} were allowed to remain
undisturbed at home, but it is the
last resort, every man in Maryland
most would go south, if they could
possibly get there. It will have a
great risk to run to get through the
lines, but the crowd I am going
with, will reach Richmond or die
fighting their way through.

I suppose the Federals will confiscate my Brothers property & mine, his
property without liberty & do not want,
well I would have been on my
way to see you, but that last order
from the war department, prohibits
any one leaving their homes or country
to evade the draft, our arrangements

are all knocked in the head
now. it almost kills me to think
of it, if the south gains her indep-
endence we will I hope be united
be true my Dear Gallie, and please
write to my mother occasionally, by that
means you probably might hear from me,
I will try to get letters to you, &
if I can get through hope to pay
you a visit when we go up in Ry
to take her on the dragon.

How I feel now, you can't imagine,
& I can't express I am trying to
be as cheerful as I can, Ma would
rather see me with Brother, than
on the Yankee side, all rebel sum-
mitizers will loose all their property
by confiscation, ^{not} it's very hard, I can't
think that an overruling & just God
will ever suffer such a state of
affair to last long, the war must become
unpopular with the north, for they
never make any more money out of
it, any more, at one time it was

a Harvest for New England,
but the money now, does not
seem to be so popular, as the hard
yellow coin.

Give my love to all friends,
& bid them goodbye for me,
& remember me in your prayers
Many a one has had leave a wife &
family, but I do not think any one
ever felt worse than I do over parting
with my friends, but enough.

I will, every opportunity that is
afforded me, send at time or
time to you, by the way of the under
ground railroad,

Good bye my Dearest. My hopes
are many yet, that Providence will
smile on me, and direct every thing ~~to~~
~~it~~ for the best, bringing us nearer
to him, & nearer to each other, from
Your true, and loving

Willie

Pooleville August 30th 1900

Dear Foster

Your letter to my son enclosed
to me came safely to hand, I feel myself all
most incompetent to the task of addressing you
as I have so little to say that is either encouraging
or pleasant, Willie had intended visiting your
place and partially made his arrangements to
that effect with a view to elude the draft when
Hollack issued his orders prohibiting all travelling upon
the public conveyances, and as there seemed to be no other
means of escape, as it wanted but a few days of
the appointed time for drafting he said he would
go south he had rather die than be forced into a
false position or become Lincolns hireling slave His
mother could not blame although I deplored the sacrifice

Q5X10
Q5

knowing as I did that his earthly prospects
might be destroyed by such a course still when he
had made up his mind he was firm in his determina-
tion and no persuasions of mine could have
stopped him, but we will hope for the best and
not give way to despondency, if he falls we shall have
the satisfaction of knowing that it was in a noble
ajust cause, I have a firm reliance in an overruling
providence who orders all things after the council of
his own will that he orders and directs our steps am-
the bounds of our habitations, why should we not
then resign ourselves to his all wise decrees knowing that
all things work together for good to them that believe
he careth for the sparrow will he not also care for
my precious Fatherless children - Thousands have left
our little State and linked their fate with the southern
confederacy and are still leaving whenever an opportunity

try prospects
course still when he
as firm in his determina-
tive could have
hope for the best and
he falls we shall have
that it was in a noble
line in an overruling
after the council of
ad directs our steps and
why should we not
rise de sees knowing that
we to them that believe
he not also care for
— Thousand have left
their fate with the southern
whenever an opportunity

of doing so with safety occurs the excitement
here is intense so many have left that it is
believed that the draft will take almost every
other man there is very little chance of hiring
a substitute men are talking of giving 500
dollars and it is not thought they will get them
at that, I might write you some news but
do not know that it would be prudent to do
so, I have heard that W arrived safely at his
destination from Sam I have had no intelligence
for many weeks the chance of sending letters
either way is very poor but if I see a favourable
opportunity will forward your two last letters neither
of which he has received shall all ways be happy
to hear from you my love to all enquiring friends
I remain yours with much esteem G White

Sept 8th, 62

Miss, Sallie Offutt,
Shelbyville,
Shelby County,
Ky.



July 10th 1858
Mrs. Little,
1119 Hilltop Avenue,
Louisville,
Kentucky.

Dear Friends,

On my return to Louisville
from the South I
met at Newbern on
the William Miller
the last first annual
late great meeting.
The race was as well
as could be expected
in view of the
heat it continued
until 10 o'clock in the
evening & still

95°^F

The Filson Historical Society



placed to follow it; but thought it would make such noise

form of his orders made of his wished for you to follow him for this night he of course suggested that we march on at all.

For this can not be done. We have been here looking for a place to remain without loss of time to march.

We have now fixed a company of cavalry commanding the road from Westfield which we shall be in time to get away.

any letter addressed to him in the
care of Capt Elijah White Winchester
Virginia ~~I think he~~ ^{is} in the Students Cavalry
I think will be received my love to
all friends I am happy to hear from
you at any time hope you will continue
favor me with a communication as often
as convenient I have not sent your last letter
but will do so the first opportunity they were in
fine spirits when I heard from them last
with much love I remain yours E White

Please take good care and
return

Yours truly

Geo. W. Moore

95x10

Poolesville Oct 23^d 1862

Dear Sallie

I do indeed owe you
an apology in not sooner responding
to your first letter, but your kindnes
of heart will readily pardon any
seeming neglect upon my part when
made acquainted with my present
trials, you say that you heard that
the Confederates had paid us a
visit, they did and their coming
brought much trouble to me as all
of our servants belonging to the
farm in the absence of my overseer
took six of our horses and went
off to Washington, as they said for
protection, where they still remain
it has completely knocked all of
our farming operations in the head
I have been compelled to rent the
Farm out, this is about 30 of them
under the protection of the government

only one of the number returned
I have made no effort to reclaim
them as it is attended with much
trouble and expense and after
all if they do not chose to stay with
us we can not compel them to do
it here, my sons were both over with
them William was at home but a
few moments he was well and loo-
king better than usual I gave him
your two first letters Samuel was
not at home at all but was well they
only remained in Maryland two
days and were ordered back to
watch a force of Federals that
were making their way up on
the Virginia shore for the purpose
of getting in the rear of Jackson
I am happy to say they they did not
accomplish their design, but after
a hard fought battle in which
he defeated the Union forces
returned to Virginia and left no

in the same predicament they
did you at the mercy of the
Union army and they are carrying
every thing with a high hand
arresting citizens destroying property
and so on
I have one wounded and one sick
confid in my house we had
quite a little battle in our usually
quiet village some canonading frightened
the citizens half out of their wits
it was an exciting time I assure you,
I am sorry that I can not inform you
of the number of my sons regiment
he was with me so short a time that
I did not think to enquire I have
not received any letter from him
~~but hear from him~~ & frequently it is almost impossible
to send a letter over they have the
river double picketed and do not allow any
communication whatever I can tell
you this much he belongs to Stuarts
Cavalry Capt Elijah Whites company

Will you come riding if you can get
out time from thys, you can run in a
pedal — alone — in which you could ride
out to "old friends" at a fast walk
with pleasure. You taller, for friend it, have always
been a standard roadster after the close.
Your letter was one of the most interesting I
have ever written since I began my writing.
It is with a real sense of pleasure to re-
ceive all my friends, our neighbors, and your
brother. His visitation was so agreeable and the
time so well spent, I will tell you a few more particulars
so soon as you still pursue the study commu-
nion in reference to my letters, as you've already done
so much before, and will write you if they prove
inconvenient. You spoke of the old friends
you had in Boston, and I hope you will

bed with you without a cousin Sam. - 'tis well, did you
mean this all, in one connection, or two persons undivided? Perhaps the former was Mr. Tritton's your old
England friend, if not where is he now?

Oh! there are noble patriotic! Kentuckians should
now, if never before, arise at once while so glorious
an opportunity presents itself to arise & boldly
rush out into the ranks & proclaim their intention
to defend some friend friend & right from the
fronting & environs &c, when I stop & look upon thy
& her sons, feel my face about tingle with
shame & behold so many single & married ones
remaining at home fearing of accusations of
the same kind, distressing result shall the
enticing South be overpowered & held firmly
in all the shackles of opinion. There are
very few people in 'ly' & when such freedom
as the that are given and all read &
understand fully the import, but can not
hold a single electing agent and permit
such unjust & unrightful proceedings, etc go on.

It is with me a man! think of course
I go but may see it & not take the first
course. O'er like never could have carried out
the knobb scheme, but no, however, unfortunately
the people, say, yea sir, we are humiliated
and here are our slaves please sir like
pecuniary persons tell me them if you can
possibly. Oh! but the mighty arm of the

and God would interpose in his judgment, soon
and prevent the dreadful fate of Edward Johnson from
being carried into execution. — Callie for my sake
please get the life of John C. Calhoun read, speak
of Henry Clay & James Polk and others, Calhoun
got up against them, he, was a statesman, and one
of the greatest men America ever had. His speeches
are deep, sensible, & prophetic, of course destined
to success, still he has plumbly forecasted in them the
very end fact, that are daily stating us in the free
newspapers of the Abolitionists, not only
one's being in favor of emancipation, but qualifying the
same for the white after white taking their
place in position to it. This is not the argument
of the South should be removed & in the face of
such stern reality all should be willing to turn
back the dark cloud that is hurriedly coming,
to sweep over us and plunge us into unendless
tribulation which we may never extricate ourselves
out of. I will all the longer upon this unfortunate truth.

Belle Pratt is now on a visit to me, having been
by way of accident or enjoy ourselves, hunting papas,
peach nubs, grapes, and when the fruit falls begin
to gather picking ants, ride all over the woods
and have a good time generally, reading, writing, some-
times drawing. She was in New Orleans all winter, & returned
home in May she is indeed a true Southerner, her
friends removed from their rounds & are now in
the service again all over Long Island in Collo. Battalions

a great number in 3rd & 4th Regiments are all now with Blackbridge - we know not where especially some report say he is
the vicinity of Grant's Kelly's Landing, New or N.Y. and it
may yet be known. It is a well known fact that they
fought in that memorable battle of Chico's Dale. Major Monk
was wounded, but they, a little way around of Pidcock
named Committee gave a ten dollar bill to all those from
Chico the loss of their baggage took a load to bear.
Did understand until now that in the San Joaquin Valley
Gen. Bird & Mr. G. C. McRae & others all joined
a Southern Company Oh! do you see why not as many
men as possible, do you not see the noble fellow fortune
major bravely & courageously being surrounded by such
opposition, following him Glad Hogan & others gathering
him up & bring in the election party in the state
that it is to be the party of an enemy? Oh! & would
style it opposition. And the middle of the 7th of Dec.
met at Modesto for protection from the rebels
file of that beautiful bold rag to "Glory" and
"Patriot" why don't Willie, have had enough his
patients & the rest of us & we want to go on and have
to be old & in what would be a terrible suppose the Willie
is living very much after C. S. & would give us this to see
our noble son again we in a few instances not without
damage. Willie & his party, resolved to end their days
especially since the last Northern sacrificed his life
for it only to see his horses & men needed to make
long & when the time comes if such should be his desire
Abide with me! Oh! it seems so strange to me to see, etc.
men & Willie still, they seemed so young & frank, but now
all these years, he won't support them is very same
long & that the last party's last day, he went to the
home of Beckie George marriage, & most says success a good wife
and fortune is Willie George's home & never willing to see G. B.
but a long as I live, that Beckie will be belong to me for
G. B. is by a Southern & bound to him the longest of time
a support that is a masterpiece of grace for man to offer
it self many have heard of the writing & see this or that man
recied or before it is out of date. It tell one for &
re�ement he belongs to me, but did the wife find & the
letter & tell her son and I do so for her - this is the name
of place where that stain upon man Col. Harrison
- Miller & placed there fore that stain upon man Col. Harrison
- Miller & no man is bad for single except he would be supposed
not by the same & I am the only one who has written
"Patriot" & am I when is born and organization & to wait
to hear a speech of the Bell's marriage, keep from Mr. & old & get arrested
and Dr. "Robt" of the former & Willie & wife to settle I think you

Dearie son. Your affectionate daughter
bore you any new patterns for quilts,
would like to begin one it would
be a diversion & seems to while away
many a dull eve. I received the
package sent by George Marshall. & was
much obliged for the favors. the dress
was quite pretty. The merchants here
go on for goods. but I suppose that
cotton goods will still be high.

Mrs. Young of Linton has turned to be
a rebel. since old Abe proclamation
some of his members, have withdrawn
on the account of it. Mrs. J. L. Duke,
& Renny Stevensons & some others.
there is a family that some of
them will come back. Aunt Bellie
Morton spent last Tuesday with us is
as much a rebel as ever. the last
account we had of her Mr. T. was at
Richmond sick with a swollen face.
There is Bellie I think of her often
tell her to write when she has time
to send me a ladies slipper pattern
the 1st chancery. My love to Pats & all the
family & tell him we are much indebted
to him for spending so much time to the

26 Oct [A. 1862]

Undershore College Oct 26th

My dear Son,

Why is it that you
never write to me of late. I feel you
neglect dearly. I am so anxious to see
or hear from you if you only knew
my anxiety. I know you would
write the first sue-moment.
I am so low-spirited & have so
little to comfort me in view of
my situation if I knew I could
see you at any time it would not be
so bad. but the divided state
of the country, makes everything so
uncertain. What would you advise
me to do. I dislike leaving home &
there is so much trouble, to you all
& to them when I think of the
suffering. I must undergo it though,

"in some measure
might be avoided, I know not
what would be best, will let me
know, your opinion as to what I
best best do. I was up at Mrs. Moore's
on Friday last, found all well
Mrs. Mrs. had quite a family as many
in white family as you have she
seems to get along well & takes
no more trouble on her hands than
she can kick off at the heels,
One time went on ground many federal
soldiers passing through Lexington, took his gun pistol & gold watch
about 1,000, they have taken off
a goodly number of negroes, they
just tell them to come & go with
them and almost force them onto
ranks, a good number have been
captured, one of Aunt Sallie Martin by the thieving federals, I never seed
man off & now is in jail at
Frankfort;

One hour, that they have
completely devastated the country
between Louisville & Frankfort,
and have committed many outrages
such as plundering houses and
breaking up furniture, They went
to Monroe & Frankfort & broke
up the furniture & plundered it
of valuables, Two of them went
to Cousin John Knobels at night
saying they had come to arrest him
but his gun pistol & gold watch
\$81.8.00 in money, For the separation
of their army they ought to turn the
thievish officers out of it; Is there
much change of sentiment in the
people of Shely, since they were visited
by the thieving federals, I never seed
man you liked your quilt, I have thought
of it several times thinking it was lost;

Soldiers marched across the river
expecting they were going to drive the
federals back and then all the
distinguished Generals Bragg, H. Smith,
Buckner, Humphrey Marshall, Preston
Churchill Heath and others, gallantly
left Favres around to the State house
and encourage him Gov of Ky.

But then in the evening what a
change - the word went out - Foundry
must be evacuated - bridges must be
burned - seamless patching strong the
struts double quick - Soldiers all coming
across the river - all the camps broken
up and starting towards Versailles and
this chicken for once in his life got a
little excited and he struck up towards
Loyalltown - I am afraid the rebels have
left us - and the federals are coming to
stay putting the bars up as they go - judging
from the number they now have in Ky.

I am glad to hear that there is a prospect
of Paris getting some money from Col Hale
Tell him that the way Col Hale sent it before
we left to think by the safest and best way now
is Deposit it in the bank in Shelbyville
and send me check by mail

Major McCalla will cash it at our bank
in that way - if the mail robed nothing
would be lost

I have put in about 40 acres of wheat and
this dry weather is very trying on it

I have about 50 hogs in the fallowing pen long
I am afraid the price of hogs will be very

Rick Johnson (one Morgan's men) was paroled ^{27 Oct 1862} and
has come back home and says Sam Nichols
had Neuralgia of the ear - and was left at Richmond
whether he has recovered or not I have not heard.
It won't do you harm with Sam & Anna when they
found the Southerners ~~home~~ Monday night
to ~~leaving~~ ^{the} ~~leaving~~ ^{the} ~~leaving~~ thousands of ~~October 27 to 6.2~~
~~the same way~~

I rode up to the ~~station~~ ^{station}
this morning and you expected to receive ~~to receive~~
a letter from you. It has been a long time
since we got a letter that did not bring
it by survival him before I ~~had~~ ^{had} ~~had~~ ^{had} ~~had~~ ^{had}
my eyes - This thing of being cut off from
all mail facilities isn't so pleasant
Well the rebels have left and say ~~they~~ ^{they} ~~they~~ ^{they} ~~they~~ ^{they}
we have Michigan Wisconsin and Indiana
abolitionists who know to and frequent
every negro they see to have them ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and~~ ^{and}
and take corn oats hay & all kinds of
provisions as they go without ~~paying~~ ^{paying} ~~paying~~ ^{paying}
The Unionists have now them ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and~~ ^{and}
amongst them and I tell you they ~~are~~ ^{are} ~~are~~ ^{are} ~~are~~ ^{are}
getting monstrous tired of ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~the~~ ^{the}
~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and~~ ^{and}
all the way

have thought it would be all
right when they got the State filled up
with such soldiers. but before they
are now opening their eyes ~~and~~
they have him a great many negroes
left and gone into the camps from
this and the adjoining counties.
Some have come back and say they
prefer home to the soldier life.
I was in Geo-Town a few days ago
and by the 3rd I had a time of it
got on. — two days after Morgan
passed through Lexington the
men were in town about 8000 ^{of which}
and I not knowing that Marshal ^{had} been
decreed started into town with my
horses in my buggy and when I got
the crossing com upon the pickets
and was told that I could not pass — I told
them I was gone on business and insisted
that pickets - and after an halour
and questioning of ten minutes was given
to the mat and so one through & lots
of pickets to Gen. Ballou's head qua-
I began to think I had got myself
into a snaf and thought I would be
questioned in regard to my loyalty but
happening to meet two or three influential
friends in his tent I got off pretty well
and don't think I will be taken to
town again in that kind of shape
while there I saw the 22 Wisconsin Reg-
iment in on the Cw side and it was filled
with negroes and it was almost dangerous
for a man to try get his negro out of
there hands. The influential unionists are trying to get
Billermore to issue and order to put all
the negroes out but he is from the
Western Reserve (Ohio) and I never heard
of that country producing any thing but
abolitionists — They all have now left for Lexington
and like you I wish they may never come
I was in Frankfort the day of the inaug-
uration of Gov. Davis - and that beat
all the days I have passed through yet
Kirby Smith's whole force was in and
around Frankfort - And the morning
all was jubilant and every thing was
thought by the soldiers and outsiders
to be working right - saw Scott Cavalry
bring in several prisoners - and the